
 

 

 

 

 

 

 Small Business Regulatory Review Board Meeting 

November 17, 2022 

10:00 a.m. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD 

Department of Business, Economic Development & Tourism (DBEDT)      Tel: 808 798-0737 
No. 1 Capitol District Building, 250 S. Hotel Street, Fifth Floor, Honolulu, HI  96813 
Mailing Address: P.O. Box 2359, Honolulu, HI  96804 
Email: dbedt.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov  
Website: sbrrb.hawaii.gov 

David Y. Ige 
Governor 

Mike McCartney 
DBEDT Director 

Members 
Robert Cundiff 

Chairperson 
O‘ahu 

Mary Albitz 
Vice Chairperson 

Maui 

Jonathan Shick 
2nd Vice Chairperson 

O‘ahu 

Dr. Nancy Atmospera-
Walch 
O‘ahu 

William Lydgate 
Kaua’i 

James (Kimo) Lee 
Hawai’i 

Garth Yamanaka 
  Hawai’i 

Taryn Rodighiero 
  Kaua’i 

Sanford Morioka 
O‘ahu 

Tessa Gomes 
 O‘ahu 

Mark Ritchie for  
Director, DBEDT 
Voting Ex Officio 

AGENDA 
Thursday, November 17, 2022  10:00 a.m. 

No. 1 Capitol District Building 
250 S. Hotel Street, Conference Room 436  

Honolulu, HI 96813 

As authorized under Act 220, Session Laws of Hawaii 2021 and Chapter 92-3.7 
Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS), the public can participate in the meeting either: 

A. By attending the in-person meeting at:
No. 1 Capitol District Building, 250 S. Hotel Street 

Conference Room 436, Honolulu, HI  96813; or  

B. Via Video-audio livestream or via Telephone - to join the Video-audio
livestream meeting, go to: 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88945374966?pwd=cDhqWEEzZGZHYmJLM05tMHU5Mm5HQT09 

C. To Join via Telephone: Dial 1-669-900-6833 with
Meeting ID 883 5814 0200 Passcode 066739 

When the Chairperson asks for public testimony during the meeting, you may indicate 
that you want to provide oral testimony by using the raise hand function or, if calling in 

by telephone, entering * and 9 on your phone keypad.  When recognized by the 
Chairperson, you will be unmuted.  If calling in by phone, you can unmute and mute 

yourself by pressing * and 6 on your keypad.  

Members of the public may also submit written testimony via e-mail to: 
DBEDT.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov or mailed to SBRRB, No. 1 Capitol District 

Building, 250 S. Hotel Street, Room 506A, Honolulu, HI  96813, or P.O. Box 
2359, Honolulu, HI 96804.  All written testimony should be received no later 

than 4:30 p.m., Wednesday, November 16, 2022.    

Copies of the Board Packet will be available on-line for review at: Agendas & 
Minutes – Small Business Regulatory Review Board (hawaii.gov). An 

electronic draft of the minutes for this meeting will also be made available at 
the same location when completed. 

The Board may go into Executive Session under  
Section 92-5 (a)(4), HRS to Consult with the Board’s Attorney on Questions 

and Issues Concerning the Board’s Powers, Duties, Immunities, Privileges and 
Liabilities. 

I. Call to Order

II. Approval of October 20, 2022 Meeting Minutes

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88945374966?pwd=cDhqWEEzZGZHYmJLM05tMHU5Mm5HQT09
mailto:DBEDT.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov


Small Business Regulatory Review Board – November 17, 2022 
Page 2 

III. New Business – Before Public Hearing

A. Discussion and Action on Proposed New Hawaii Administrative Rules
(HAR) Title 13 Chapters 230 and 256, General Provisions; Ocean 
Recreation Management Rules and Areas, promulgated by Department of 
Land and Natural Resources (DLNR) – Discussion Leader – Taryn Rodighiero

IV. Old Business – After Public Hearing

A. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Statement After Public 
Hearing and the Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 13
Chapter 256-152, Kahaluu Bay Ocean Waters, promulgated by
DLNR – Discussion Leader – Taryn Rodighiero

B. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Statement After Public 
Hearing and the Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 13
Chapter 251 Subchapters 1, 2, 3, and 7, Commercial Activities on
State Ocean Waters, Navigable Streams and Beaches, promulgated by 
DLNR – Discussion Leader – Taryn Rodighiero

V. Administrative Matters

A. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in 
accordance with the Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, Hawaii Revised 
Statutes 

VI. Next Meeting:  Thursday, December 8, 2022 at 10:00 a.m., held via Zoom and 
In-Person at 250 S. Hotel Street, Conference Room 436, Honolulu, HI  96813

VII. Adjournment

INDIVIDUALS REQUIRING SPECIAL ASSISTANCE OR AUXILIARY AIDS OR 
SERVICES (e.g., sign language interpreter, captioner, computer-assisted note taker, 

wheel chair accessibility, parking designated for the disabled or other accommodation). 

Any individual needing an auxiliary aid/service or other accommodation due to a 
disability may contact the Small Business Regulatory Review Board office at 808-798-
0737 and/or jetaime.k.ariola@hawaii.gov as soon as possible, preferably at least three 
(3) working days prior to the meeting.  Requests made less than three working days

prior to the meeting cannot be assured.  Upon request, this notice is available in
alternate formats such as large print or electronic copy. 



II. Approval of October 20, 2022 Meeting 
 Minutes



1 
 

    Approved: ______________________________ 

 
Small Business Regulatory Review Board 

 
MEETING MINUTES - DRAFT 
October 20, 2022 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER: Chair Cundiff called the meeting to order at 10:01 a.m., with a 
quorum present, which was open to the public.    

STAFF: DBEDT                    Office of the Attorney General 
    Dori Palcovich 
 Jet’aime Ariola 

      Alison Kato  

  

II. APPROVAL OF September 15, 2022 MINUTES 
 
Vice Chair Albitz motioned to accept the September 15, 2022 meeting minutes, as presented.  
Mr. Ritchie seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed.    
 
III. NEW BUSINESS – Before Public Hearing 

 
A. Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 16 Chapter 115, 

Professional Engineers Architects Surveyors and Landscape Architects, 
promulgated by Department of Commerce and Consumer Affairs (DCCA)   

 
Discussion leader Ms. Rodighiero reminded the board members that this rule was reviewed 
and deferred from last month because there was some confusion as to what specific changes 
were being made.   
 
Ms. Lee Ann Teshima, Executive Officer at DCCA’s Professional and Vocational Licensing 
Division, explained that in January 2022 this Board reviewed proposed changes to HAR 
Chapter 115.  However, after the Board provided approval and subsequent to going to public 
hearing, additional amendments to the rules were promulgated.   
 
Thus, last month’s confusion occurred because the proposal included both changes from 
January 2022 and the most current changes; as such, the proposal today only includes the 
subsequent changes for consideration.  Chair Cundiff noted that the rule proposal is very 
clear and the information is very thorough.   
 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 Robert Cundiff, Chair 
 Mary Albitz, Vice Chair 
 Jonathan Shick, 2nd Vice Chair 
 Garth Yamanaka 
 Taryn Rodighiero 
 Mark Ritchie 
 

       
ABSENT MEMBERS: 
 Dr. Nancy Atmospera-

Walsh 
 James (Kimo) Lee 
 William Lydgate 
 Tessa Gomes 
 Sanford Morioka 

 
 
 
 

 



 

2 
 

Second Vice Chair Shick questioned whether the change of the dates in the rules for applying 
for the engineering licenses would fall in-line with national requirements and wondered if 
there might potentially be some confusion with the dates of the national registration versus 
the state registration.  Mr. Clayton Pang, Chair of the EASLA Board, DCCA, responded that 
the dates were changed because the majority of the exams are converting to computer-based 
in a testing center which no longer requires twice a year testing. 
 
Ms. Rodighiero motioned to move the proposed rule amendments onto public hearing.   
Mr. Yamanaka seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 

 
IV. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 

 
A. Discussion and Action on the following: 

 
1. Board’s Draft 2022 Annual Report Summary for Submission to the Hawaii 

State Legislature, under Section 201M-5(f), Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS) 
 
There is a noticeable improvement in the Matrix graph at the back of the Report that shows a 
lesser number of rules being “opposed” from past years.  It appears this is because many of 
the agencies are now providing more outreach to the stakeholders, resulting in a smoother 
rule review process than in past years.  Chair Cundiff will amend the “Chair’s Message” in 
this Report to include this sentiment and how overtime this Board has adapted to understand 
how it impacts the business community and the results of its efforts.  Vice Chair Albitz added 
that a “majority” of the agencies are assisting with the Board’s efforts.   
 
Mr. Yamanaka motioned to accept the draft 2022 Annual Report Summary for publication 
with forthcoming changes to be made to the Chair’s Message.  Ms. Rodighiero seconded the 
motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 

 
2. Board’s Draft 2022 201M-7 Periodic Review: Evaluation Report for Submission 

to the Hawaii State Legislature under Section 201M-7, HRS 
 

The members discussed an on-going lack of submission of rules for the 201M-7 Report from 
the County of Hawaii; Vice Chair Albitz noted that there are similar issues with  Maui.  
Deputy Attorney General Kato confirmed that there would be no legal cause for incurring 
penalties upon the counties for lack of participation or nonsubmittal of the required rule 
information; she suggested that public pressure might be the best route to take against the 
counties. 
 
Chair Cundiff noted that there is not much this Board can do to force the issue of submitting 
the required rule information from the counties except to reach out to the county 
representatives and share with them the information that it is required to the Board per 
statute.  Second Vice Chair Shick added that advocacy and outreach to the small business 
community may also be helpful because if the businesses knew what changes were being 
proposed it may help with the counites’ accountability.   
 
 



 

3 
 

Vice Chair Albitz stated that state legislators should be aware that some of the counites are 
not accountable.  Chair Cundiff added that knowing who the county contacts are is also 
important in sharing and advising who this Board is, what it does, and that the Board is here 
to support small business.  Going forward, DBEDT staff will provide this Board’s neighbor 
island members with correspondence and contact information.  
 
Mr. Ritchie motioned to accept the draft 2022 201M-7 Periodic Review: Evaluation Report for 
publication.  Second Vice Chair Shick seconded the motion, and the Board members 
unanimously agreed. 

 
B. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in 

accordance with the Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, HRS 
 

1. Board’s Phase II Website Project  
 
Ms. Rosie Warfield and Mr. Mark Moran, representatives from NIC Hawaii, presented the 
specific changes that were made to the Board’s existing website.  These changes, which 
were officially launched on September 19th, include the following: 

 
- Amended the content layout to the homepage  
- Adjusted the resource section 
- Added filtering to the meeting/agendas page  
- Updated the MailChimp newsletter 

 
In addition to offering a back-end video library system on WordPress where DBEDT staff can 
go into the site and train themselves on all the different aspects of the new features, a live 
training session was held for them.  Ms. Warfield explained that we are now in a 90-day 
window for support and despite any tweaking or fixing of any of the features on the website, 
the project is essentially complete. 
 
Chair Cundiff thanked Ms. Warfield and Mr. Moran for all their efforts as they have been very 
attentive, responsive and professional during the process.  In response to Vice Chair Albitz’ s 
inquiry as to whether it is possible to open up the meeting packets into a new window so 
users can easily go back to the main page, it was indicated that it may be possible; NIC 
Hawaii will get back to the Board if this can be done.  

 
2. Board’s Attendance at the September 17, 2022 Hawaii Small Business Fair at 

Leeward Community College 
 

Mr. Ritchie updated the members on the success of the small business fair after a two-to-
three-year hiatus.  Approximately 200 attendees showed up to learn about opening up and 
maintaining a small business  There were 30 different business-related classes in four 
separate time slots and 30 to 35 exhibitors, both government agencies and non-profits, 
offering business support services.   
 
Mr. Richie complimented Ms. Ariola for her fine outreach work at the fair; Mr. Ariola stated 
that she was very happy to attend the fair and offer information to small businesses about 
the Board. 



 

4 
 

V. NEXT MEETING - Thursday, November 17, 2022 at 10:00 a.m. 
 

VI. ADJOURNMENT – Vice Chair Albitz made a motion to adjourn the meeting and Ms. 
Rodigheiro seconded the motion; the meeting adjourned at 11:01 a.m.                



 
 

 

 

 

 

III. New Business   
A. Discussion and Action on the Proposed New 

HAR Title 13 Chapters 230 and 256, 
General Provisions; Ocean Recreation 
Management Rules and Areas, 
promulgated by DLNR 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  
 

 
  

 

   

 

  

  

  

  
     

   
 

  

  

 
    

 
  

  

                     
      

 

 
      

             

  
 

  
    

      

   

  
   

   

PRE-PUBLIC HEARING SMALL BUSINESS IMPACT STATEMENT 
TO THE 

SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD 
(Hawaii Revised Statutes §201M-2) 

Date: 

Department or Agency: 

Administrative Rule Title and Chapter: 

Chapter Name: 

Contact Person/Title: 

E-mail: Phone: 

A. To assist the SBRRB in complying with the meeting notice requirement in HRS §92-7, please attach 
a statement of the topic of the proposed rules or a general description of the subjects involved. 

B. Are the draft rules available for viewing in person and on the Lieutenant Governor’s Website 
pursuant to HRS §92-7? 

Yes No 

If “Yes,” provide details: 

I. Rule Description: 
New Repeal Amendment Compilation 

II. Will the proposed rule(s) affect small business? 
Yes No 

(If “No,” no need to submit this form.) 

* “Affect small business” is defined as “any potential or actual requirement imposed upon a small business . . . that will cause a 
direct and significant economic burden upon a small business, or is directly related to the formation, operation, or expansion 
of a small business.” HRS §201M-1 

* “Small business” is defined as a “for-profit corporation, limited liability company, partnership, limited partnership, sole 
proprietorship, or other legal entity that: (1) Is domiciled and authorized to do business in Hawaii; (2) Is independently owned 
and operated; and (3) Employs fewer than one hundred full-time or part- time employees in Hawaii." HRS §201M-1 

III. Is the proposed rule being adopted to implement a statute or ordinance that 
does not require the agency to interpret or describe the requirements of the 
statute or ordinance? 

Yes No 
(If “Yes” no need to submit this form. E.g., a federally-mandated regulation that does not afford the 
agency thediscretion to consider less restrictive alternatives. HRS §201M-2(d)) 

IV. Is the proposed rule being adopted pursuant to emergency rulemaking? (HRS §201M-2(a)) 

Yes No 
(If “Yes” no need to submit this form.) 

* * * 

Revised 09/28/2018 

AriolaJK
Received



       

 
 

    
 

    
  

   

   

  

  

    

  

  
   

 

Pre-Public Hearing Small Business Impact Statement – Page 2 

If the proposed rule affects small business and are not exempt as noted above, 
please provide a reasonable determination of the following: 

1. Description of the small businesses that will be required to comply with the proposed rules 
and how they may be adversely affected. 

2. In dollar amounts, the increase in the level of direct costs such as fees or fines, and indirect 
costs such as reporting, recordkeeping, equipment, construction, labor, professional 
services, revenue loss, or other costs associated with compliance. 

If the proposed rule imposes a new or increased fee or fine: 

a. Amount of the current fee or fine and the last time it was increased. 

b. Amount of the proposed fee or fine and the percentage increase. 

c. Reason for the new or increased fee or fine. 

d. Criteria or methodology used to determine the amount of the fee or fine (i.e., 

Consumer Price Index, Inflation rate, etc.). 

3. The probable monetary costs and benefits to the agency or other agencies directly affected, 
including the estimated total amount the agency expects to collect from any additionally 
imposed fees and the manner in which the moneys will be used. 

Revised 09/28/2018 



       

  
 

  

 
  

   
  

 

 
 

 

Pre-Public Hearing Small Business Impact Statement – Page 3 

4. The methods the agency considered or used to reduce the impact on small business 
such as consolidation, simplification, differing compliance or reporting requirements, 
less stringent deadlines, modification of the fines schedule, performance rather than 
design standards, exemption, or other mitigating techniques. 

5. The availability and practicability of less restrictive alternatives that could be 
implemented in lieu of the proposed rules. 

6. Consideration of creative, innovative, or flexible methods of compliance for small 
businesses. The businesses that will be directly affected by, bear the costs of, or 
directly benefit from the proposed rules. 

7. How the agency involved small business in the development of the proposed rules. 

a. If there were any recommendations made by small business, were the 
recommendations incorporated into the proposed rule? If yes, explain. If no, 
why not. 

Revised 09/28/2018 



       

 

  

   
      

    

  
    

 
 

   
 

  
  

 

 

   
   

      

Pre-Public Hearing Small Business Impact Statement – Page 4 

8. Whether the proposed rules include provisions that are more stringent than those 
mandated by any comparable or related federal, state, or county standards, with an 
explanation of the reason for imposing the more stringent standard. 

If yes, please provide information comparing the costs and benefits of the proposed rules to 
the costs and benefits of the comparable federal, state, or county law, including the following: 

a. Description of the public purposes to be served by the proposed rule. 

b. The text of the related federal, state, or county law, including information about 
the purposes and applicability of the law. 

c. A comparison between the proposed rule and the related federal, state, or 
county law, including a comparison of their purposes, application, and 
administration. 

d. A comparison of the monetary costs and benefits of the proposed rule with the 
costs and benefits of imposing or deferring to the related federal, state, or 
county law, as well as a description of the manner in which any additional fees 
from the proposed rule will be used. 

e. A comparison of the adverse effects on small business imposed by the 
proposed rule with the adverse effects of the related federal, state, or county 
law. 

* * * 

Small Business Regulatory Review Board / DBEDT 
Phone: (808) 586-2594 / Email: DBEDT.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov 

This Statement may be found on the SBRRB Website at: http://dbedt.hawaii.gov/sbrrb/resources/small- business-impact-statements 

Revised 09/28/2018 

http://dbedt.hawaii.gov/sbrrb/resources/small-business-impact-statements
mailto:DBEDT.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov


1 
 

    Approved: _________3-21-2019_____________________ 

 
Small Business Regulatory Review Board 

 
MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING 
February 26, 2019 
Conference Room 436, 250 South Hotel Street, Honolulu, Hawaii 96813 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER: Chair Borge called the meeting to order at 10:03 a.m., with a quorum 
present.     

STAFF: DBEDT                    Office of the Attorney General 
    Dori Palcovich 
 Jet’aime Alcos 
  

      Margaret Ahn 

II. INTRODUCTION OF MR. MICHAEL McCARTNEY, DIRECTOR, DEPARTMENT OF 
BUSINESS, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND TOURISM (DBEDT) 
 

Chair Borge introduced Mr. Michael McCartney, DBEDT’s newly appointed director.  Director 
McCartney stated that he looks forward to working with this Board and appreciates the work 
this Board does.  Chair Borge, in turn, expressed appreciation for the support provided to this 
Board by DBEDT. 

 
III. APPROVAL OF JANUARY 17, 2019 MINUTES 
 
Vice Chair Cundiff made a motion to accept the January 17, 2019 minutes, as amended.   
Mr. Nakamoto seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed.        

 
IV. REGULATION REVIEW CARD  

 
A. Discussion and Fact Finding on Request Received through this Board’s Regulation 

Review Card for Proposed New Rules and Regulations for “Crafting Safe and 
Sustainable, Commercial Manta Ray Viewing Procedures for Manta Ray Snorkel 
and Dive Sites” under Department of Land and Natural Resources’ (DLNR’s) 
Division of Boating and Ocean Recreations (DOBOR) 
 
 
 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 Anthony Borge, Chair 
 Robert Cundiff, Vice Chair 
 Garth Yamanaka, Second Vice Chair 
 Harris Nakamoto 
 Mary Albitz 
 William Lydgate 
 Carl Nagasako 
 

       
ABSENT MEMBERS: 
 Nancy Atmospera-Walch 

 
 

AriolaJK
Highlight

AriolaJK
Highlight

AriolaJK
Highlight



2 
 

a. Draft Hawaii Administrative Rules, Title 13 Subtitle 11 Ocean and Coastal 
Areas, Part 1 Small Business Facilities and Provisions Generally Applicable 
to All State Navigable Water, Chapter 230 General Provisions, promulgated 
by DLNR        

 
Chair Borge explained that the draft rules are for discussion and fact-finding purposes and 
relate to concerns raised by Mr. Keller Laros of Mana Pacific Research Foundation, via 
regulation review card, and from testimony received by Mr. Iko Balanga and Ms. Holly 
Crane, owners of Anelakai Adventures, regarding the creation of the rules for commercial 
manta ray viewing procedures. 
 
Program Specialist Mr. Cliff Inn and Legal Fellow Mr. Todd Teshima from DLNR’s DOBOR, 
updated the members on the status of the draft rules, which are currently with the Attorney 
General’s (AG’s) Office.  Once DOBOR receives the rules back from the AG’s, they will be 
reviewed by the Board of Land and Natural Resources (BLNR).  After that, the rules will 
come before this Board and then go out for public hearings.     
 
Chair Borge stated that one concern posed by Mr. Laros was the permitting process.  Mr. 
Teshima responded that there are currently 51 commercial permits in the Big Island and the 
rules do not limit or require specific permits as they are “general” commercial permits; 
however, he also noted that no other permits are being issued.  
 
Thirteen buoys are being considered for installation at each site with one buoy dedicated for 
recreational-use at all times.  The buoys are part of C.I.P. (capital improvement projects) 
where authorization for their installation is required from the State Legislature.  The rules 
were drafted with the assumption that the buoys are already installed, but they are not; 
therefore, they must be installed before the rules are enforced.  However, because it is 
anticipated that the Legislature will likely be unable to provide for the C.I.P. funds this 
session, DLNR will move forward next year with either a funding request or use other funds 
currently available.   
 
It was mentioned that House Bill 1460 authorizes funds from the Boating Special Fund to be 
used for any day-use mooring buoy system in the State.  The Boating Special Fund is only 
for repair and maintenance on existing buoys without legislative authorization.  DOBOR 
needs to reinstall existing buoys because new buoys being considered for installation must 
be designed a certain way due to redundancy and to meet certain standards.    
 
Chair Borge explained that there is an overall business-need for reviewing the limitation on 
the permittees due to the limited natural resources and landscaping where the manta rays 
congregate; there is also a need to put forth the qualifications and specifications for granting 
permits.  Mr. Inn added that there appear to be three concerns to address: 1) the timeframe 
to create and formalize the rules; 2) opportunity for growth; and 3) natural resources; all of 
which are currently being reviewed.  If the Legislature provides the required funding, the 
estimated timeframe for completion of the rules is late-2019 to early 2020. 
 
Ms. Albitz questioned whether attrition of the permits will occur as it relates to Section  
13-256-26 (e) (1) (iii), which states that ongoing records showing continuous manta ray 
viewing operations is not required if an operator has initially obtained a permit.  In response, 

AriolaJK
Highlight



3 
 

Mr. Teshima believed the reason this section was written was that once an operator qualifies 
for a permit, he/she would not then be required to continue to qualify; it was not intended for 
a permittee to “sit on a permit” as operators are still required to submit the required 
documentation such as gross receipts, tax information, etc., to renew his/her permit.    
 
Mr. Iko Balanga and Ms. Holly Crane, owners of Anelakai Adventures in Kailua-Kona, 
Hawaii, provided testimony by supporting the “intent” of the rules for the safety of manta 
rays, but oppose the negative impacts on the safety and accessibility of ocean guests and on 
the invasiveness of the manta rays.  Anelakai is the only company of the 50+ operating 
companies that has a self-contained, non-motorized light board.     
 
Concern was conveyed with Anelakai’s perceived inability to continue as a small, local 
business providing safe Hawaiian ocean cultural experiences to the people on the 
company’s tours largely due to the company utilizing double-hulled, six-man 24-foot canoes.  
The draft rules, as written, are impractical and unsafe for guests especially those who cannot 
otherwise view the mantas because of physical or mental challenges thereby excluding their 
protected class under the American Disabilities Act and Hawaii and Federal civil Rights laws.   
 
An additional concern is the exclusion of a safe, business model that provides a paddling 
canoe as a light board as well as back-up safety mechanisms for other businesses.   
Mr. Balanga does not agree that it would be safer to moor the company’s canoes and swim 
the guests away from its natural security toward a “campfire.”   
 
Mr. Balanga and Ms. Crane requested this Board urge DOBOR to work with their company 
to amend and clarify the rules to allow the company to continue providing unique services to 
protect manta rays and guests.  Also requested was that an option in the rules be created to 
allow DLNR discretion to require qualified, proven double-hulled paddling canoes as light 
boards within the viewing zone established at Kaukalaelae Point and/or within a separate 
zone inside Keauhou Bay.  Currently, the rules as written will require Anelakai Adventures to 
“tie off,” and put a guide and light board in the water.      
 
Chair Borge thanked Mr. Balanga and Ms. Crane for attending the meeting today.  As 
DOBOR is still refining the rules, additional changes and suggestions may be made until the 
rule proposal is submitted to BLNR.  He suggested that specific concerns discussed today 
be put into writing, including the commercial limitation on capacity; he will also encourage all 
stakeholders to continue to provide input to DOBOR.   
 
Second Vice Chair Yamanaka made a motion to send a letter to Mr. Keller Laros of Mana 
Pacific Research Foundation thanking him for his recent inquiry and outlining the discussion 
that transpired at today’s Board meeting.  Ms. Albitz seconded the motion, and the Board 
members unanimously agreed. 

 
V. LEGISLATIVE MATTERS 

 
A. Discussion on House Bill 539, Related to the Small Business Regulatory Review 

Board – Appropriation for staffing, commissioner inter-island travel, and other 
related operating expenses associated with the Small Business Regulatory Review 
Board under the Department of Business, Economic Development and Tourism 



Anelakai Adventures
P.O. Box 390858

Kailua-Kona, Hawaiʻi
96739

October 26, 2022

Board of Land and Natural Resources
P.O. Box 621
Honolulu, Hawaiʻi
96809

Re:  Item J.2 on the Board’s Oct. 27, 2022 agenda, requesting approval to initiate 
rulemaking proceedings, including public hearings to amend Hawaii Administrative 
Rules (HAR) Chapter 13-230, General Provisions, re: Section 13-230-8, Definitions, 
and HAR Chapter 13-256, Ocean Recreation Management Rules and Areas, to add 
new Sections 13-256-26, Manta Ray Viewing, and 13-256-165, Makako Bay Manta 
Ray Viewing Zone, 13-256-26, Kaukalaelae Point Manta Ray Viewing Zone, as 
regulations for Manta Ray viewing activities.

Aloha e Chairperson Case and BLNR Board Members,

Mahalo nui for this opportunity to provide testimony supporting the intent of these much 
improved draft rules for the safety of manta rays, and opposing the remaining negative impacts 
on the safety and accessibility of ocean guests of all physical abilities, on the invasiveness upon 

manta rays, and on our ability as a small, local 
business that focuses on providing safe, respectful, 
Hawaiian ocean cultural experiences to people with all 
levels of ocean knowledge and capabilities.

     Anelakai Adventures 
(www.anelakaiadventures.com) offers the only manta 
ray experience that provides access for children, non-
swimmers and people with physical and mental 
challenges to safely view manta rays.  It does so by 
being the only company without a lightboard, in part 
because it acts as its own light source.  Anelakai also 
provides the only completely eco-friendly, non-
motorized access to view the mantas: via traditional 
paddling power in double-hulled canoes that have 
been innovatively rigged for everyone’s safety, 
including the manta rays, our guests and ocean guests 
arriving via other vessels.  All aspects of our vessel 
have been designed to assure safety for people and 

http://www.anelakaiadventures.com
AriolaJK
Received



Board of Land and Natural Resources
Re: Manta Ray Viewing Draft Rules

Page  of  2 24
October 26, 2022 

marine life.  Our staff has been trained in safety, compassion, ocean skills and Hawaiian cultural 
and natural resource knowledge.  Aloha and safety are our top priorities as ambassadors of the 
Hawaiian waterman and waterwoman lifestyle.

Below, we share our concerns with how the current draft rules for manta ray viewing still 
provide incomplete care for manta rays, visitors and for small, local businesses that care deeply 
about the ability to show true aloha for our home, culture, natural resources and visitors.  We 
brought these concerns to the Small Business Regulatory Review Board (SBRRB) on Feb. 26, 
2019.  They graciously wrote to us on Mar. 1, 2019 (letter attached), asking us to continue 
providing information to the Division of Boating and Ocean Recreation (DOBOR) and 
requesting DOBOR to work with us to amend and clarify the draft rules that they presented at 
that time.

DOBOR did just that.  We are grateful for their willingness and their efforts to meet, talk 
and email with us over the past three years, despite the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic.  The 
draft rules are much improved, and we appreciate the staff’s work and communication.  The staff 
expressed the intention to assure that our business would be able to continue to operate, either 
with an explicit exemption or because the rules would clearly allow for our operations.  

In reviewing this draft, however, that intention is not clear to us.  We have several 
questions about the ultimate interpretation and implementation of the rules, particularly in how 
they will impact the safety of mantas and guests and how they seem to put us out of business.  
We remain concerned about elements of the draft rules that would make it impossible for our 
small business to survive, including the question of how the permits will be issued: via lottery, 
auction or first-come, first-served.  Manta ray tours are the main source of our income, and we 
have maintained our compliance (and will continue to do so) with the existing rules for 
commercial entities in Keauhou and with the drafted requirements for obtaining manta ray 
viewing permits.  However, unlike the much larger, motorized vessels, we can only take a 
maximum of 6 people at a time in our double-hulled canes, and because we only use human-, 
paddle-power, being able to have just one vessel permitted for approximately 2 hours a night 
constricts us to taking out 6 people a night – if we get a permit – which is not viable.  

Anelakai Adventures

Based in Keauhou Bay, we have commercial use permits for our double-hulled canoes, 
which allow us to offer eco-friendly, culturally aware ocean tours, including manta ray tours in 
the evening, if weather and ocean conditions permit.  We are only paddle-powered, so we stay at 
Kaukalaelae Point for our manta ray tours.  Anelakai is a long-term member of that ocean 



Board of Land and Natural Resources
Re: Manta Ray Viewing Draft Rules

Page  of  3 24
October 26, 2022 

community, which is a tight-knit ʻohana that looks out for and supports each other and each 
other’s safety and guests, and meets all of the draft regulations’ safety and other requirements to 
attain a permit to provide manta ray viewing operations.  

Keauhou’s culturally and historically significant location also provides a perfect setting 
for educating guests about Hawaiʻi as well as mantas while they paddle in canoes that are lashed 
together in the traditional way, with rope.  Each hull of our lashed double-hulls holds four 
people, for a total of eight per vessel, including two staff members: one who is the lead 
steersperson.  Thus, our commercial operations only allow for six visitors per tour.  Those six 
visitors are screened by our staff to determine their abilities and comfort levels in the ocean, 
because we want to assure that any special needs are met and that everyone is comfortable and 
has a positive experience.

People with physical or mental challenges, small children, people uncomfortable or 
unsure in the ocean, and non-swimmers in general are afforded an opportunity to go to sea safely 
in our canoes and view the mantas from their seats, unlike any other vessel currently offering 

manta viewing (please see sample testimonials at the 
end of this letter).  We are honored to be able to offer 
this opportunity to people who have been turned 
away from everyone else, but who want to be able to 
experience Hawaiʻi’s ocean environment and life.  
We are well-known for offering these services to 
groups and to individuals.  This has become a 
defining part of our business and a gift that we 
cherish being able to give, and that we want to assure 
that the final HAR rules would not eliminate.

     Equally, because we have proven over the years 
that there is a safe and comfortable way to provide 
access to the ocean and to viewing the mantas, we 
effectively supply DOBOR with their only 
compliance to the American Disabilities Act (ADA) 
in this arena.  The ADA, among other things, 
prohibits discrimination on the basis of mental or 

physical disabilities in commercial facilities and by state and local government – including 
commercial activities that are licensed by the state – as do Federal and Hawaiʻi Civil Rights 
laws.  This community or class of people is often excluded from ocean activities because all of 
these laws allow for exemptions if there is not a safe alternative and if the activity is not 



Board of Land and Natural Resources
Re: Manta Ray Viewing Draft Rules

Page  of  4 24
October 26, 2022 

fundamental to their lives and well-being as important members of our society.  In this case, we 
provide the safe alternative, which would be eliminated if these draft rules are approved as they 
are currently written, thereby effectively excluding this protected class.

Anelakai is committed to safety on and in the water.  We require that all of our staff be 
CPR, first aid and lifeguard certified, and we have life vests, lifeguard buoys, first aid kits, fire 
extinguishers, flares, proper lighting, an AED and oxygen on board as part of our safety gear and 
required safety training.  None of this is currently required, nor are any of these safety protocols 
for vessels, staff or guides included in the draft regulations. 

Furthermore, our vessels’ innovative design creates a controlled situation that keeps 
everyone either sitting inside or 
floating between the hulls for manta 
and human safety and control 
purposes.  People can view the 
mantas from the comfort of their 
seats in the canoe, or via masks 
from the water, holding rods 
between the two hulls and with 
their feet suspended on the surface 
of the water by floats.  Thus, 
everyone is kept together, easily 
able to climb in and out of the 
canoe by a ladder between the 
hulls, and are constantly monitored 
and accessible by our staff.  If a 
person panics or needs assistance, 
we can have them back in the canoe 
in seconds.  We also can and have 

provided assistance to guests from other vessels who have panicked or run into trouble in the 
ocean.  We are concerned that none of this oversight, security and care would be allowed under 
the current draft rules, because our paddle-powered vessel may not be allowed into the viewing 
area.

Not only do our double-hull canoes provide a peaceful, safe experience for visitors of 
every ability and capacity, but it also provides a safer, more controlled experience for the mantas.  
Because no one is free swimming, no one is kicking fins underwater, and we have no engines, 
the deepest possible elements in the water are our rounded hulls (no skegs or propellers), which 



Board of Land and Natural Resources
Re: Manta Ray Viewing Draft Rules

Page  of  5 24
October 26, 2022 

are stationary, and our steering 
paddles, which do not go much deeper 
– if at all – than the hulls themselves.    
In comparison, please see photo of the 
dive fins and legs of other snorkelers 
and of guides requiring very long fins 
to push and hold in place multiple 
visitors holding onto a light board, 
usually with the long fins and their 
legs moving while straight down into 
the water column.  These fins 
regularly hit mantas, and our 
culturally sensitive and eco-friendly 
canoes, paddles and guests never 
have. 

We have our own light source, which is not submerged so as not to entangle or injure the 
mantas, and which attracts the plankton that attracts the mantas.  Because our steerspeople are in 
constant control of the canoe (we strive not to moor, raft or anchor so that our lines also cannot 
entangle mantas), our visitors are kept inside or between the hulls and are not free-swimming or 
free-floating, we essentially are our own light board, with a smaller footprint and much smaller 
potential impact into the water column where mantas swim.  Because there is no definition or 
parameters for light boards, we do not know what their size or lumens requirements would be.

Having tried to be active participants in DOBOR’s consultations process for these draft 
rules and regulations, we are 
pleased with some of the 
evolutions that we have 
witnessed.  For example, it is a 
relief that each Manta Ray 
Viewing Operations Permit 
will only be issued for one of 
the viewing zones (Makako 
Bay or Kaukalaelae Point).  
Any conflicts that we have 
witnessed among tour 
operators and any overwhelm 
of the site at Kaukalaelae Point 



Board of Land and Natural Resources
Re: Manta Ray Viewing Draft Rules

Page  of  6 24
October 26, 2022 

have been because of vessels from Makako Bay not finding enough mantas in their waters and 
motoring to our area, where they usually live boat (keep their engines running and vessels 
moving) because there is not enough room for them.  It is also a relief that SCUBA will not be 
allowed at Kaukalaelae Point for manta ray viewing, because having people of various skill 
levels diving within the water column and moving their long fins below and around the mantas 
has caused problems in the past.

 We also strongly support the requirement for propeller guards being installed on 
outboard and inboard motors for vessels permitted to offer manta ray viewing operations.  One of 
the reasons we have never had a motor on our double-hulled canoes is to protect marine life, our 
guests and our staff in the water from the unintentional and extreme damage that propellers can 
cause.  We are curious, however, as to why a vessel in this area should be allowed not to have a 
propeller guard “if a crew member, other than the person operating the vessel, is designated as a 
lookout to ensure safety at all times.” (See Draft Rules §13-256-26(d)(2)(vii).)  

While the regulations stipulate that only 24 permits will be offered for each viewing zone, 
there are no stipulations as to the size of vessels or the number of visitors allowed in each zone 
or to be allowed to be brought by each vessel.  Without a schedule for which permitted vessels 
will be able to use which mooring at what time, on which date, the rules appear to be creating a 
scenario of motorized vessels racing each other to limited moorings, while being unable to 

guarantee to their guests 
whether or not they will be 
able to moor and therefore 
be able to put their guests 
into the water.  Rather than 
supporting the existing 
Keauhou ʻohana situation, 
the draft rules likely would 
create a negative, 
competitive situation where 
mantas and guests are more 
at risk.  The draft rules, 
which allow one company 
one vessel permit and only 
allow each to be moored for 
2 to 2 ½ hours at a time, 
also seem to be promoting 
larger vessels that can bring 



Board of Land and Natural Resources
Re: Manta Ray Viewing Draft Rules

Page  of  7 24
October 26, 2022 

more people at once, which fundamentally counters the stated intent of promoting the safety of 
mantas and guests.

Furthermore, the draft rules provide for a ratio allowing one guide to control as many as 
eight people in the water – all swimming, and all presumably attached to a light board.  This 
scenario is an improvement over the past ratio of 1:10, but still must presume that the guide will 
need very long fins and have to be extremely strong in the water to push or pull as many as eight 
people and a light source away from their vessel and to the viewing campfire.  Currents, winds, 
swells and potentially frightened and cold swimmers of mixed abilities among an unlimited 
amount of other guides and swimmers far away from their support vessels portends a dangerous, 
uncontrolled situation where rescue is about 100 feet away on a vessel that cannot see the people 
in the water and is not allowed to approach the area – whether under motor power or not – unless 
there is an emergency.  Also, if one of the guide’s 8 guests is injured, becomes frightened, 
cramps, or has other difficulties, the guide cannot separate the guests and leave seven alone to 
return one to the vessel.  Nothing about this scenario speaks to the safety or comfort of the 
visitors, the guides or the mantas.  

     This scenario also could 
unnecessarily exclude our safe, 
respectful business model of a 
providing a paddling canoe as a light 
board, an opportunity for people of 
varied abilities to share the special 
Hawaiian ocean experience with 
mantas, and a back-up safety 
mechanism for other Keauhou-based 
businesses.  We have often helped 
guests from other companies who are 
panicked or confused and allowed them 
to come sit in or hold onto the canoe to calm down.  We like to present our canoes as beacons of 
safety to all of the other light boards in the water and invite them to come to us if they are in 
need.  We do not agree that it would be safer to moor our canoe and swim our guests away from 
its natural security toward a “campfire”.

While a “campfire” setting (currently undefined or regulated as to light source or lumens) 
for manta ray viewing may make sense for SCUBA visitors who can then all sit in place on the 
ocean floor and not disturb the mantas above them in the water column, it puts both mantas and 
swimmers more at risk in a snorkeling setting.  Also, Kaukalaelae Point has more currents than 



Board of Land and Natural Resources
Re: Manta Ray Viewing Draft Rules

Page  of  8 24
October 26, 2022 

Makako, which is part of why SCUBA does not belong at Kaukalaelae, and part of why light 
boards that are not at least tethered to a vessel do not belong at Kaukalaelae Point.  One guide 
with a large board and non-trained swimmers attached to that board will be hard pressed to swing 
the board against the current, hold the board and people in place, and swim them against the 
current – either away from or back to their vessel.  All of this must be done – if at all – with huge 
fins that can hurt the mantas, and all of it would be done out of visual sight from the vessels and 
people on the vessels that could help the guides and visitors.

Questions:

• Can our unique operation be exempted in any way from these rules, which were crafted 
because of the negative impacts of too many unregulated motor vessels with too many 
people?

• §13-230-8 Definitions:  
o The proposed, new definition for “canoe”, in Hawaiʻi’s rules, now describes non-

Pacific Islander vessels and may or may not include the various traditional canoes 
that are integral to Hawaiian culture: outrigger canoes (which still have their own 
definition), double-hull canoes, sailing canoes, fishing canoes, voyaging canoes, 
etc.  This seems insulting to the host culture, and it raises concerns for our non-
motorized, double-hulled paddling canoes being able to continue to be permitted 
to provide any kind of commercial operation, including for manta ray viewing.  

o Bolded words are suggested additions to the Dec. 2020 proposed definition of 
“Canoe” to assure that Anelakai’s safety-conscious, sustainable double-hulls 
clearly fit within this definition and within the Manta Ray Viewing set of rules: 
“Paddling Canoe” means [outrigger canoe.] a narrow, open-top, manually 
propelled watercraft without rudders, fins, keels, skegs or any other type of 
protrusions extending from the vessel’s hull or hulls, which is steered and 
propelled solely by use of single-bladed paddles, and in which paddlers sit on 
bench-type seats in an elevated position from the bottom of the hull.”

o “Hawaiian or Polynesian Canoe” means [outrigger canoe.] a narrow-hulled 
vessel, which is steered by use of single-bladed paddles, and lashed with rope to 
spars (ʻiako), another hull, an outrigger (ama), or a deck.  A Hawaiian or 
Polynesian canoe may be propelled by use of single-bladed paddles, sails and 
motors. 



Board of Land and Natural Resources
Re: Manta Ray Viewing Draft Rules

Page  of  9 24
October 26, 2022 

o Note: The purpose of the second proposed definition is to be inclusive.  It would 
apply to voyaging canoes, paddling canoes, sailing canoes and fishing canoes, 
some of which are not yet represented at all in these rules, but all of which are 
part of Hawaiʻi’s unique seascape.  In Anelakai’s case, both of these definitions 
would apply to our double-hulls, but only the Paddling Canoe version – which 
with our proposed amendments allows for more than one hull and for non-
paddlers to sit on the deck (like we sometimes have physically challenged people 
do) – would be referenced in the Manta Ray Viewing rules, because it only allows 
for non-invasive paddle power.)

o The proposed definition for “Commercial manta ray viewing operation” reads that 
“an operator for hire carries passengers or brings participants into the water, or 
both, to engage in manta ray viewing at areas where illumination is used for the 
purpose of attracting plankton.”  This would seem to allow for our double-hulled 
canoes to continue to carry passengers view manta rays from the canoe itself, 
which could be wonderful for us, if we can continue to be our own light source.

o The proposed definition for “Manta ray viewing zone campfire” remains the same, 
which means it still only references an “intended gathering point for in-water 
participants to view manta rays”, not for people viewing from canoes. Question: 
Does this mean that we can still operate our canoe as its own light source, out of 
people’s way?  Suggestion: If not, we suggest proposing the following 
amendment to the definition: “means the intended gathering point for in-water 
participants and permitted paddling canoes to view manta rays.”   

o The definition for “Manta ray viewing zone”, which is defined as “an area where 
manta rays are intended to be viewed, whether commercially or non-
commercially”, leaves open the possibility that the viewing does not have to occur 
around a “campfire”, which is not specifically defined anywhere.  This could be 
helpful for us, or just confusing.

• §13-256-26 Manta Ray Viewing:

o (b)(1) Now, only 24 of these permits will be allowed for each zone from the 
beginning; no longer is there an attrition plan built in to get the permit numbers 
from 30 to 24 over time.  Question: How is this impacted by the idea that there 
may not be as many mooring buoys as originally planned?  Anelakai notes that it 
does not need a mooring, since it is under paddling power, has its own light 



Board of Land and Natural Resources
Re: Manta Ray Viewing Draft Rules

Page  of  10 24
October 26, 2022 

source and will need to be able to bring our visitors directly to the mantas (not 
swim them away from the safe and equal opportunity view options of the canoe).

o (b)(2) each commercial manta ray viewing operation can only work in one zone 
and during viewing hours (4pm-4am) and will be limited to what reads as maybe 
a single, two-hour shift per night.  This is not viable for Anelakai with only as 
many as 6 passengers per night in one double-hull canoe, especially since we only 
go out when safety and weather conditions allow, and paddling takes a bit of time, 
making each of our potential shifts at least 1½ hours long.  A lot of the motor 
vessel companies run 30- to 40-minute tours, whereas Anelakai’s visitors are in 
the water (only between our hulls) for an hour.  If we are not able to be exempted 
from these rules, we suggest amending this section – to be compatible with the 
section (b)(5) suggested amendment below – to allow for more than one shift by 
adding an “s” to the word “shift” at the end of the section so that it also matches 
the language in (b)(5), which allows for “shifts”, so that we could potentially take 
out a canoe twice a night: “Commercial manta ray viewing operations shall only 
be conducted during manta ray viewing hours and shall be subject to two-hour 
shifts as determined and assigned by the department.  No commercial manta ray 
viewing operator may operate within any manta ray viewing zone outside of their 
assigned shifts.”  

o (b)(5) limit of 60 passengers within 24 hours, with a 1:8 ratio of guide to guests, 
no matter how many of the guests are in the water (Suggestion: Shouldn’t there 
instead or also be a cap on the number of people in the water at a time with the 
mantas?).  Only one commercial permit per company (which means only one 
vessel).  Because Anelakai’s one vessel only allows us to take out as many as 6 
people at a time, if we cannot be exempted from these rules or be allowed the 
possibility of taking out our canoe twice a night, for flexibility purposes we 
suggest amending this section to read: “...No more than one commercial manta 
ray viewing operation permit shall be issued per person or business entity, or to 
no more than two licensed, double-hulled paddling canoes per person or 
business entity.”  (Note that this amendment requires the previous suggested 
change to the definition of “canoe”.)

o (b)(6) Each permitted vessel shall have a capital “M” on both sides of the vessel. 
(Question: At no point is a double-hull canoe defined or described as a vessel that 
can be designated and permitted.  Should they be?)



Board of Land and Natural Resources
Re: Manta Ray Viewing Draft Rules

Page  of  11 24
October 26, 2022 

o (c)(2)(iii) Can only be at a buoy for about 2 ½ hours then have to detach and leave 
the area for at least 30 minutes before returning.  Question: This ability to return 
seems counter to the apparent limit of a single shift for each permittee, per 
13-256-26(b)(2) above, which makes our suggested amendment more pragmatic.  
If a vessel does not moor, but only remains free-paddling, like a double-hulled 
canoe, does this time limit apply?

o (d) Prohibitions in the zones:
(1) No one shall:

(i) operate a vessel above the slow-no-wake speed (easy for 
Anelakai)
(ii) anchor any vessel (Anelakai does not and will not)
(iii) raft any vessel (Note: unless one is defined as a kayak, canoe 
or paddleboard, which is why it is important to assure that 
Anelakai’s double-hulled paddling canoes meet the definition of at 
least one kind of canoe, just in case they need to raft for safety 
purposes)

(2) During manta ray viewing hours, no one shall:
(i) Navigate any motorboat (except for when attaching or 
detaching from a buoy or in an emergency) within 100 feet of any 
manta ray viewing zone campfire.  (Note: here, the word 
“campfire” – which is not defined anywhere – is used on its own): 
“...navigating a vessel within one hundred feet of any manta ray 
viewing zone campfire shall be allowed only for ingress and egress 
purposes or in emergency situations, if a campfire is available.” 
Questions: Does that mean that this rule only applies in Makako 
Bay, which is shown in the map as having a set location for a 
campfire?  Also, this subsection seems to limit the ability of a 
paddling canoe to enter a “manta ray viewing zone campfire” but 
only if an undefined “campfire” is available.  We thought that non-
motorized, double-hulled canoes would be able to safely paddle 
into the viewing area at Kaukalaelae Point.  Suggestion: If this 
subsection applies to Kaukalaelae Point, to allow our canoe to 
continue to operate as intended, we suggest the following 
amendment (as well as request a definition for “campfire” if it is to 
be used as a term by itself): “...providing further that navigating a 
motorboat [vessel] within one hundred feet of any manta ray 



Board of Land and Natural Resources
Re: Manta Ray Viewing Draft Rules

Page  of  12 24
October 26, 2022 

viewing zone campfire shall be allowed only for ingress and egress 
purposes or in emergency situations, if a campfire is available.”
(iv) “Use subsurface vessel lighting or excessive topside lighting if 
a campfire is available.” (Question: Can continue to paddle into 
the viewing area and use its onboard lighting?)
(v) “Use any point source of illumination for the purpose of 
attracting plankton or manta rays more than 100 feet from any 
campfire. (Question: Can Anelakai can continue to paddle into the 
viewing area and use its onboard lighting?)
(vii) Use a motor without a propeller guard unless a crewmember 
who is not operating the vessel is designated as a lookout. 
(Question: This seems strange and unsafe. Why was this language 
amended so that not everyone has to use a propeller guard?)

Conclusion

Mahalo nui again for this opportunity to voice our concerns and to offer suggested paths 
to solutions.  We share DOBOR’s intentions for safety and sustainability for manta ray viewing 
opportunities in West Hawaiʻi, and we hope that our questions and proposed solutions are helpful 
to the future of manta rays, their respectful visitors and our small, local business that serves an 
under-represented community of uniquely abled and physically challenged people who seek a 
safe, eco-friendly, Hawaiian ocean experience.  

We would be happy to answer any questions and to further collaborate on solutions.  
Please feel free to contact us, the co-founders of Anelakai Adventures: Iko Balanga via e-mail 
iko@anelakaiadventures.com or via phone at (808) 896-4294; and Holly Crane via e-mail at 
holly@anelakaiadventures.com, or via phone at (808) 987-7975.

Me ke aloha,

Iko Balanga Holly Crane

Attachment: March 1, 2019 letter from SBRRB

Copied: SBRRB



Board of Land and Natural Resources
Re: Manta Ray Viewing Draft Rules

Page  of  13 24
October 26, 2022 

Additional photos and reviews of Anelakai’s services and operation, contrasted with images 
of motorized vessels’ operations with lightboards



Board of Land and Natural Resources
Re: Manta Ray Viewing Draft Rules

Page  of  14 24
October 26, 2022 

Here is a family getting ready to paddle out for their sunset manta ray viewing tour on a double-hulled 
canoe: no motors, no gas, no oils, ecofriendly, nonimpactful to the manta rays and culturally respectful.  
Please note that we always have two (2) steerspeople for each outing, one in each hull.



Board of Land and Natural Resources
Re: Manta Ray Viewing Draft Rules

Page  of  15 24
October 26, 2022 

This is how our guests view the Manta Rays: between the hulls, 4 ½ feet away from our lights, and using 
ankle floats to keep their legs level on the surface. Guides stay in the canoe right next to them to ensure 
their safety and comfort at all times.



Board of Land and Natural Resources
Re: Manta Ray Viewing Draft Rules

Page  of  16 24
October 26, 2022 



Board of Land and Natural Resources
Re: Manta Ray Viewing Draft Rules

Page  of  17 24
October 26, 2022 

Preston is autistic and this is the only way he can safely view the Manta Rays – from his seat in the canoe. 
He said it was one of the best days of his life.



Board of Land and Natural Resources
Re: Manta Ray Viewing Draft Rules

Page  of  18 24
October 26, 2022 

Many of our guests book with us so that they don’t have to get in water and can view from their 
seat in the canoe.  For some it is because they cannot swim; for others it is because they are not 
comfortable in the water, perhaps more so at night.  Still others are physically or mentally 



Board of Land and Natural Resources
Re: Manta Ray Viewing Draft Rules

Page  of  19 24
October 26, 2022 

challenged, and our canoes provide the only accessible means of experiencing this natural 
wonder.

Underwater view of a Manta Ray doing backflips under our guests safe between the hulls of our canoe.



Board of Land and Natural Resources
Re: Manta Ray Viewing Draft Rules

Page  of  20 24
October 26, 2022 

Manta Ray doing a back flip under the smooth hull of the canoe feeding on plankton attracted by the 
lights.



Board of Land and Natural Resources
Re: Manta Ray Viewing Draft Rules

Page  of  21 24
October 26, 2022 



Board of Land and Natural Resources
Re: Manta Ray Viewing Draft Rules

Page  of  22 24
October 26, 2022 

A view from our canoe of us working in harmony with other companies’ light boards.  While we have 
concerns about the safety of the other vessels’ guests and the manta rays with the light board methods, we 
strive to create a community of care in the ocean out of Keauhou.

A link of light boards from just two commerical motor boats that stretches more than 100 feet long.  Our 
double-hulled canoe, which is only 24 feet long, should be able to be in the same viewing area as these 
much more expansive light boards.

This is another view from our canoe as we line up with other light boards at the site. Our canoe is only 24 
feet long. As you can see this string of lightboards is much longer than that with many more guests, 
several types of lightboards and means of keeping guests’ afloat, including pool noodles that easily blow 
or get swept away, becoming marine debris and leaving guests’ feet and legs dangling.



Board of Land and Natural Resources
Re: Manta Ray Viewing Draft Rules

Page  of  23 24
October 26, 2022 

Reviews cut and pasted directly from 
TripAdvisor (no corrections made to spelling 
errors), with links provided from each title:

Manta-fest! 
We saved the best Hawaii adventure for our last 
evening and it was AWESOME! I have some mobility 
issues, knew I wasn't going to snorkel, but hoped my 
husband and I could see Mantas together. Boy did 
we see them. I had called Anelakai before booking 
and they were very helpful, listening to my concerns 
and answering my questions. A couple days before 
our tour we popped down to Keauhoe to see how 
easy it would be for me to get into the canoes. The 
crew was so helpful. They answered questions and 
helped figure out what the tides might look like and 
how high or low the step into the canoe would be for 
our tour. The night of our 6:30 tour, they came 
prepared to help me in and made sure I was comfortable. Captain “Donut” and Mana’o were a great 
team: instructing how to paddle, entertaining with jokes, educating us about Mantas, giving local 
restaurant tips. The dive spot is just outside the harbor and you suit up and are in the water within 
the first 10 minutes. We lucked out with prefect weather, calm seas and a warm night. Once they 
turned on the lights the plankton started to gather and then the mantas immediately came to scoop 
them up. They fed continuously the whole time we were out there. We saw at least 7 different 
individual Mantas which the crew knew by their markings. The lights are placed in between the two 
canoes so if you are unable to get into the water you are just as close as the snorkelers…you just 
don’t get wet. You are not allowed to touch them but they were that close. Those in the water had 
mantas swimming and brushing against them. So amazing. We had so much fun. Thank you for 
being the only company that made it possible for me to experience the mantas on the water. 

Highlight of our holiday! 
My two sisters and I LOVED our experience seeing the mantas. There were so many of them, and 
they were inches away from us! They are magnificent creatures! Being in a canoe made us feel so 
connected to the ocean...so much more meaningful and special than chugging out in a smelly boat! 
It was fun to paddling the canoe. The owners, Eco and Hollie, and their staff are beyond fantastic! 
Caring, dedicated, knowledge and fun! They go way out of their way to make sure the experience is 
perfect. I am a quadriplegic, and getting into a boat is impossible without someone helping me. 

https://www.tripadvisor.com/ShowUserReviews-g29217-d12065724-r861882218-Hawaiian_Double_Hull_Canoe_Eco_Friendly_Night_Snorkel_for_Manta_Rays-Island_of_H.html
https://www.tripadvisor.com/ShowUserReviews-g29217-d12065724-r751107348-Hawaiian_Double_Hull_Canoe_Eco_Friendly_Night_Snorkel_for_Manta_Rays-Island_of_H.html


Board of Land and Natural Resources
Re: Manta Ray Viewing Draft Rules

Page  of  24 24
October 26, 2022 

Ok...lifting me! Other companies refused to take me. Then I saw Anelakai Adventures website and 
read a review by a man who was also paralyzed and had had an amazing trip to the mantas in the 
canoe. I called and was treated with such kindness, enthusiasm and assurance that I signed up on 
the spot! Best time ever! These guys do it for the love. They love the mantas and they love life and 
they love people. You feel like you’re with your favourite cousins! They truely gave me the most 
wonderful experience I’ve had in years. Literally ....I could not have done it without them! I’ll be back! 

A Kind Canoe Journey Among Gentle Giants 
Mantas are majestic creatures that display majestic acts of unreal underwater acrobatics– everybody 
knows this, but what everybody doesn’t know is that Anelakai is by far the best and most kind way to 
experience their magic. Other tours involve shuffling out onto massive rafts with literally dozens of 
other people. Beyond this, the boats are motorized and huge, which is an irresponsible opportunity 
to hurt these gentle giants. Anelakai is the opposite- you will be part of a small canoe crew, paddling 
out to the bay and dropping in the water without spinning blades or diesel fumes. I can say with near 
certainty that the mantas appreciate the smaller size, numbers, and lack of mechanical disruption. 
Seeing the mantas with severe propeller damage is heartbreaking and reinforced my decision to go 
out with this crew. Speaking of the crew, they are fabulous- knowledgeable about the creatures you 
are seeing (tell them you want all the manta facts!) the history and culture of canoe expeditions, and 
bursting with local knowledge of the best eats and sights. I truly could not imagine doing any tour but 
this one, and it is an experience I shall treasure always. 

Best wheelchair accessible adventure on the Big Island 
Breast wheelchair friendly adventure activity I found on the big island and I called a lot t of places. I 
felt safe and had a blast. A one in a lifetime experience. I am a complete T5 para with arthritic 
shoulders and I was able to enjoy the snorkel just like all the other able bodied passengers 

If you do one thing on the Big Island do this! 
Incredible experience for all ages. We had my 8 year old son & 73 year old mother on charter and 
they both loved it! I would recommend this experience for 3 reasons. 1. Environmentally conscious - 
The canoe has no motor and thus no negative impact on the reef. Operators are knowledgeable and 
show concern for the ecosystem. 2. Safety - This is a small charter and the operators are very 
concerned about safety. 3. Culture- you are supporting local small business that is involved in the 
community. The operators are very knowledgeable about Hawaiian Culture and give you an 
experience you are not going to get anywhere else. 

Best way to see the rays 
There are lots of options but this is the best for several reasons. First the guide to participant ratio 
was as 2:6 not 2:40! Our guides could name the rays by their spots, so we knew when it was 
Amanda Ray or Quarintina. We got to paddle out in a Hawaiian canoe trip which was also on our 
island bucket list. Because you are in the canoe right on the water getting wet is completely optional. 
One person in our boat never left the boat and had a great view. You could bring young kids, less 
agile elders, or folks who can’t swim and they wouldn’t miss a thing! That isn’t true for the big boats. I 
am so glad a local told us about them.

https://www.tripadvisor.com/ShowUserReviews-g29217-d12065724-r810353740-Hawaiian_Double_Hull_Canoe_Eco_Friendly_Night_Snorkel_for_Manta_Rays-Island_of_H.html
https://www.tripadvisor.com/ShowUserReviews-g29217-d12065724-r812460936-Hawaiian_Double_Hull_Canoe_Eco_Friendly_Night_Snorkel_for_Manta_Rays-Island_of_H.html
https://www.tripadvisor.com/ShowUserReviews-g29217-d12065724-r793516851-Hawaiian_Double_Hull_Canoe_Eco_Friendly_Night_Snorkel_for_Manta_Rays-Island_of_H.html
https://www.tripadvisor.com/ShowUserReviews-g29217-d12065724-r849528812-Hawaiian_Double_Hull_Canoe_Eco_Friendly_Night_Snorkel_for_Manta_Rays-Island_of_H.html


AriolaJK
Received



DEPARTMENT OF LAND AND NATURAL RESOURCES 

Amendments to Chapters 13-230 and 13-256, 

Hawaii Administrative Rules 

[Date of adoption by agency] 

1. Section 13-230-8, Hawaii Administrative

Rules, is amended to read as follows: 

"§13-230-8 Definitions. When used in these 

rules promulgated pursuant to chapter 200, Hawaii 

Revised Statutes, unless otherwise specifically 

provided or the context clearly indicates otherwise: 

"Abandon" when applied to animals, means to leave 

an animal at any location, whether intentionally, 

recklessly, or negligently, without the owner 

intending to return for the animal and without the 

permission of the public or private property owner. 

"Adult" means a person who has reached majority. 

"Agreement" means the agreement between the boat 

owner and the State as required by section 13-231-2. 

"Anchoring device" means a device made of metal 

or similar material, attached by rope or chain to a 

vessel, which can be deployed to submerged land to 

secure the vessel in a particular place. 

"Approved" means that a fitting, appliance, 

apparatus, or item of equipment to be fitted or 

carried in a vessel, or by any particular arrangement, 

is sanctioned by the commandant of the Coast Guard, 

unless otherwise stated by the department. 

"Approved backflow prevention device" means a 

backflow prevention device that meets the requirements 

contained in standard 1001, American Society of 

Sanitary Engineers or [the Uniform Plumbing Code 

adopted by] the Uniform Plumbing Code adopted by the 

International Association of Plumbing and Mechanical 

Officials (IAPMO). 

"Approved marine surveyor" means a person who has 

been approved by the chairperson to inspect a vessel 

for an owner seeking a permit to moor a vessel in a 

1 

AriolaJK
Received







































































 
 
 
 
 
IV. Old Business  

A. Discussion and Action on the Small Business 
Statement After Public Hearing and 
Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 13 
Chapter 256-152, Kahaluu Bay Ocean 
Waters, promulgated by DLNR 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 





Small Business Statement after Public Hearing - Page 2 

-

REVISED 



1 
 

    Approved: _________7-29-2021_____________________ 

 
Small Business Regulatory Review Board 

 
MEETING MINUTES - HELD THROUGH VIDEO-CONFERENCING 
June 17, 2021 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER: Chair Cundiff called the meeting to order at 10:04 a.m., with a 
quorum present, which was open to the public.    

STAFF: DBEDT                    Office of the Attorney General 
    Dori Palcovich 
 Jet’aime Alcos 

      Alison Kato  

  

II. APPROVAL OF May 20, 2021 MINUTES 
 
Mr. Lee motioned to accept the May 20, 2021 meeting minutes, as presented.   
Mr. Ritchie seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed.    
 
III. OLD BUSINESS – After Public Hearing 

 
A. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Statement After Public Hearing and the 

Proposed Adoption of HAR Title 17 Chapter 798.3, Child Care Payments, promulgated 
by Department of Human Services (DHS) 
 

Discussion leader Mr. Ritchie stated that the DHS rules involve child care licensing with 
regards to requirements, background checks and payments.  The rules reflect where a 
state agency has to update its Hawaii Administrative Rules due to receiving federal grant 
monies and updated federal rules; they have already gone to public hearing. 
   
Ms. Dayna Luka, who is temporarily assigned as DHS’s Child Care Office Administrator, 
reminded the board members that before the public hearing the rules were presented to 
this Board in September 2020.  They were created to support the requirements of the child 
care development block grant (CCDBG) of 2014; she noted that states utilize grant monies 
for financial assistance to low-income families to access various aspects of childcare.  

 
Overall, the 2014 CCDBG was intended to strengthen the protection of child care nationwide 
for parents to make informative choices.  It assists in child development, provides equal 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 Robert Cundiff, Chair 
 Garth Yamanaka, 2nd Vice Chair 
 Jonathan Shick 
 James (Kimo) Lee 
 Taryn Rodighiero  
 Mark Ritchie 
 

       
ABSENT MEMBERS: 
 Mary Albitz, Vice Chair 
 Harris Nakamoto 
 Dr. Nancy Atmospera-

Walch 
 William Lydgate 

 
 

 

AriolaJK
Highlight



2 
 

access and stable child care for eligible children and it enhances the quality of childcare and 
early childhood workforce.  
 
Ms. Loreen Okamura, Child Care Subsidy Lead Specialist, explained that Chapter 798.3 is 
moving from a six-month to a twelve-month eligibility period to provide more stable child care 
to families.  The testimonies provided at the public hearing were in support of the proposed 
rules; several of the comments/suggestions that were made will be considered for the next 
rule revision. 
 
Mr. Ritchie motioned to forward the proposal to the Governor for adoption.  Ms. Rodighiero 
seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed.    

 
B. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Statement After Public Hearing and the 

Proposed Adoption of HAR Title 17 Chapter 800, Requirements for Listing of Exempt 
Center-Based Providers, promulgated by DHS 

 
Ms. Okamura stated that testimonies at the public hearing were in support of the proposed 
changes and several of the comments/suggestions that were made will be considered for the 
next rule revision. 
 
Mr. Ritchie motioned to forward the proposal to the Governor for adoption.  Mr. Shick 
seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed.  

 
C. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Statement After Public Hearing and the 

Proposed Adoption of HAR Title 17 Chapter 801, Background Checks, promulgated 
by DHS 

 
Ms. Luka indicated that no oral or written testimonies were received at the public hearing 
for these rule changes.  The changes are based on the requirements set forth by the 
CCDBG Act, which requires all individuals who work with children or who have 
unsupervised access to children to undergo comprehensive background checks to be 
cleared to work with children.   

 
Mr. Ritchie motioned to forward the proposal to the Governor for adoption.  Second Vice 
Chair Yamanaka seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed.   

 
IV. NEW BUSINESS – Before Public Hearing 

 
A. Discussion and Action on the Proposed Amendments of HAR Title 13 Chapter 256, 

Ocean Recreation Management Rules and Areas, promulgated by Department of 
Land and Natural Resources (DLNR) 

 
Discussion leader, Ms. Rodighiero, explained that the proposed rules affect surfing schools 
in Kahalu’u Bay on the Big Island as it has been found that there is a need to regulate the 
number of entities in the water.  The intent is to have eight limited permits on a shift basis, 
four permits allowed in the morning and four in the afternoon.   

 

AriolaJK
Highlight

AriolaJK
Highlight

AriolaJK
Highlight



3 
 

In response to Chair Cundiff’s inquiry as to whether any conflicts or concerns may arise as 
a result of these rules, Mr. Todd Tashima, General Professional from DLNR’s Division of 
Boating and Ocean Recreation (DOBOR), replied that some contention is anticipated due to 
the restriction of only eight possible permits going into effect versus sixteen businesses 
vying for the licenses. 
 
Ms. Meghan Statts, DOBOR’s Assistant Administrator, confirmed that there will definitely be 
some challenges ahead with the proposed rules as they only allow for four licensed 
operators.  While it has been discussed with the County of Hawaii to allow for eight permits, 
(utilizing four in the morning and four in the afternoon), surfing companies are not at all 
happy with this arrangement. 
 
Kahalu’u Bay is a heavily used area in the local community which is why DOBOR is working 
very hard with the County to determine amicable solutions for everyone involved.  The 
options available for providing permits are first come, first served with two other options 
requiring statutory amendments.   
 
Because Kahalu’u Bay is a culturally sensitive area, Second Vice Chair Yamanaka 
recommended that DOBOR reach out to the businesses and families for feedback to 
determine the fairest way to move forward with the proposed changes.  Chair Cundiff 
suggested that DOBOR offer a temporary solution that is fair and equitable to both the 
permitted and non-permitted businesses currently operating in the area. 
 
Over the members’ concerns in regard to having a lottery process for permits,  
Mr. Tashima explained that this process was not DOBOR’s first option.  However, because 
the promulgation of these rules has been stagnant since 2016, DOBOR believed it was time 
to go ahead with this proposal.  DOBOR would need to approach the legislature next year 
with alternatives to the lottery system process such as permits by auction.  

 
Second Vice Chair Yamanaka motioned to move the proposed amendments to public 
hearing.  Ms. Rodighiero seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously 
agreed.   

 
V. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 

 
A. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in 

Accordance with the Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, HRS 
 

Chair Cundiff explained that there is no updated news yet on the budget. 
 
Chair Cundiff announced that Harris Nakamoto’s term with this Board will end on June 30th.  
We appreciate all of Harris’ participation and hard work over the years.  He was a great 
mentor to Chair Cundiff when he began as a member of this Board.  Because we want to 
thank Harris for all his hard work, DBEDT staff will be creating an electronic card that will 
be sent to all the board members to include any comments and thoughts to Harris in 
appreciation for his efforts.   

 
 



1 
 

    Approved: _______12-09-2021_______________________ 

 
Small Business Regulatory Review Board 

 
MEETING MINUTES - HELD THROUGH VIDEO-CONFERENCING 
October 21, 2021 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER: Chair Cundiff called the meeting to order at 10:07 a.m., with a 
quorum present, which was open to the public.    

STAFF: DBEDT                    Office of the Attorney General 
    Dori Palcovich 
 Jet’aime Ariola 

     Margaret Ahn  

  

II. APPROVAL OF September 16, 2021 MINUTES 
 
Mr. Ritchie made a motion to accept the September 16, 2021 meeting minutes, as amended.  
Vice Chair Albitz seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed.    
 
III. OLD BUSINESS – Before Public Hearing 

 
A. Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments and the Small Business 

Statement After Public Hearing for HAR Title 11 Chapter 55, Water Pollution 
Control, promulgated by Department of Health (DOH), as follows: 

 
a. Appendix B, Multi-Sector General Permit (MSGP) 
b. Appendix E, Authorizing Discharges of Once Through Cooling Water Less Than 

One (1) Million Gallons Per Day 
c. Appendix F, Authorizing Discharges of Hydrotesting Water 
d. Appendix G, Authorizing Discharges Associated with Construction Activity 

Dewatering 
e. Appendix K, Small Municipal Separate Storm Sewer Systems 

 
Discussion leader and Vice Chair Albitz stated that this proposal represents appendices 
under Chapter 55 which covers NPDES General Permits.  No major small business 
impact appears to exist as the 170 agencies that have these general permits are 
government agencies; she added that most small businesses are sheltered 
organizations and able to receive an exemption. 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 Robert Cundiff, Chair 
 Mary Albitz, Vice Chair 
 Jonathan Shick, 2nd Vice Chair 
 William Lydgate 
 Taryn Rodighiero  
 Mark Ritchie 
 

       
ABSENT MEMBERS: 
 Dr. Nancy Atmospera-

Walch 
 Garth Yamanaka 
 James (Kimo) Lee 

 
 

 

AriolaJK
Highlight



2 
 

Mr. Darryl Lum, Engineering Section Supervisor at DOH’s Clean Water Branch, 
explained that the purpose of the NPDES general permits is to control requirements of 
those agencies that may potentially be causing pollutants in state waters.  In February 
2021, an early outreach process to all the stakeholders and various organizations was 
conducted.   
 
In August 2021, a Zoom public hearing was held with a total of 20 persons participating.  
While no one provided testimony at the hearing, three sets of specific comments totaling 
20 were received by DOH, all of which were from government agencies regarding the 
general permit.  No other comments were received from small businesses or from the 
public.   
 
Fifteen of the 20 comments were in support of Appendix B and 5 were in support of 
Appendix K.  Only one of the comments represented a change in the original proposed 
rules; this change will increase the deadline in submitting a document for the Appendix B 
general permit from 90 days to 180 days. 

 
Both Chair Cundiff and Vice Chair Albitz commented on the comprehensive summary from 
the public hearing and feedback from of the public. 

 
Vice Chair Albitz motioned to move the proposed amendments to the Governor for 
adoption.  Mr. Ritchie seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 

 
B. Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments and the Small Business 

Statement After Public Hearing for HAR Title 13 Chapter 256, Ocean Recreation 
Management Rules and Areas, promulgated by Department of Land and Natural 
Resources (DLNR) 

 
Discussion leader Ms. Rodighiero explained that the rule amendments regulate the 
number of entities in the waters of Kahalu’u Bay on the Big Island.  Eight limited permits 
are to be created on a shift basis – four permits allowed in the morning and four in the 
afternoon. The public hearing had several attendees with 20 testifying and 48 providing 
written comments.  

 
Mr. Edward Underwood, Administrator at DLNR’s Division of Boating and Ocean 
Recreation (DOBOR), noted that Ms. Rodighiero explained the public hearing well and 
confirmed that DOBOR was allowing for either 4 full-time or 8 half-time permits.  Based on 
comments at the public hearing, the language in the rules will be amended and proposed 
to include “non-motorized” vessels to cover all forms of surfing.      

 
Ms. Rodighiero motioned to move the proposed amendments to the Governor for 
adoption.  Mr. Ritchie seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 

 
 
 
 
 

AriolaJK
Highlight

AriolaJK
Highlight



1 

DEPARTMENT OF LAND AND NATURAL RESOURCES 

 

Amendments to Section 13-256-152  

Hawaii Administrative Rules 

 

[Date of adoption by agency] 

  

 1. Section 13-256-152, Hawaii Administrative 

Rules, is amended to read as follows: 

 

 

 "§13-256-152  Kahaluu Bay ocean waters.  (a)  

Kahaluu Bay ocean waters means the area confined by 

the boundaries shown on Exhibit ["H-5", dated November 

20, 2014,] H-5, titled "Kahaluu Bay Ocean Waters, 

Ocean Recreation Management Area", dated August 1, 

2022, located at the end of this [subchapter and 

incorporated herein.]subchapter.  The boundaries are 

as follows:[-Beginning at the low water mark of Kalaau 

o Kalakani Point at 19°34’37.81”N, 155°58’10.50”W; 

then to a point on the low water mark on the northern 

side of the Kahuluu Bay at Kamoa Point at 

19°35’09.24”N, 155°58’15.91”W; then along the 

shoreline in a southerly direction to the point of 

beginning.]  

  Beginning at the low water mark of Kalaau o 

 Kalakani Point at 19°34’37.81”N, 155°58’10.50”W; 

 then to a point on the low water mark on the  

northern side of Kahaluu Bay at 19°35’09.24”N, 

155°58’15.91”W; then along the shoreline in a 

southerly direction to the point of beginning. 

 [(1) Restrictions.  Kahaluu Bay ocean waters is  

  designated as a swimming, surf boarding, and 

  diving zone.   

 (2) No commercial water sports instruction or 

  Commercial tours may be conducted in Kahaluu 

  Bay ocean waters without a permit from the  

  department] 

 Kahaluu Bay ocean waters is designated as a 

swimming, surfing, and diving zone.  No commercial 

water sports instruction or commercial tours shall be 

AriolaJK
Received



2 

conducted in Kahaluu Bay ocean waters without a permit 

from the department. 

 (b) Kahaluu Bay [Zone]ocean waters zone A is 

described as follows: 

[Beginning at a point on the low water mark on the 

northern side of the shoreline at 19°34’59.48”N, 

155°58’06.11”W (hand rail); then south-easterly along 

the shoreline to the north lifeguard tower at 

19°34’48.67”N, 155°57’58.88”W; then seawards 

northwesterly to Pyramid Rock at 19°34’50.21”N, 

155°58’07.98”W; then seawards north-easterly ending at 

the point of beginning.]  

  Beginning at a point on the low water mark 

 on the northern side of the shoreline at 

 19°34’59.48”N, 155°58’06.11”W (hand rail); then 

 southeasterly along the shoreline to the north  

 lifeguard tower at 19°34’48.67”N, 155°57’58.88”W;  

 then seawards northwesterly to Pyramid Rock at  

 19°34’50.21”N, 155°58’07.98”W; then seawards  

 northeasterly ending at the point of beginning.  

 

 [(1) Restrictions.  Zone A is designated as a  

  surfing zone. 

 (2) The department may issue a total of up to 

  four permits for commercial surf school 

  instruction within Zone A.  Each permit 

  shall authorize surf school instructors to 

  conduct surfing instruction only within Zone 

  A. 

 (3) Each instructor shall have no more than four 

  students in the water at a given time, with 

  a maximum of eight students per surf school 

  permit in the water at any given time.  The 

  maximum of one-to-four instructor-to-student 

  ratio must be maintained at all times while 

  in the water. 

 (4) The instructor shall, at a minimum, possess 

  a current advanced life saving certificate, 

  and be authorized by the County of Hawaii to 

  conduct surf instruction on County property 

  at Kahaluu Bay. 

 (5) The department may designate the site of 



3 

  instruction with Kahaluu Bay Zone A and  

  hours of operation for each permittee, and 

  may change the site whenever such changes 

  are found by the department to be  

  necessary.] 

 Kahaluu Bay ocean waters zone A is designated as 

a surfing zone.  At all times, no person shall operate 

or moor any motorized vessel in this zone. 

 All commercial activities of any type shall be 

prohibited in this zone, except that the department 

may issue commercial use permits to authorize 

commercial surfing instruction within this zone; 

provided that: 

 (1) The total number of permits authorizing  

  commercial surfing instruction issued under 

  this subsection shall not exceed four at 

  any one time for Kahaluu Bay ocean waters 

  zone A; 

 (2) Each permit issued by the department 

  pursuant to this subsection shall only  

  authorize surfing instruction within 

  Kahaluu Bay ocean waters zone A; 

 (3) No permittee may allow more than four   

  students in the water at any one time per  

  surfing instruction permit, regardless of  

  the number of surf instructors of that  

  permittee in the water; 

 (4) Each surf instructor shall, at a minimum, 

  possess a current advanced life saving 

  certificate; and 

 (5) The department may designate the site of 

  surf instruction within Kahaluu Bay ocean 

  waters zone A and hours of operation for 

  each permittee.  The department may  

  change a designated site of operation 

  within Kahaluu Bay ocean waters zone A  

  whenever such changes are found by the 

  department to be necessary for reasons 

  of public health, safety, or welfare. 

 (c) Kahaluu Bay [Zone]ocean waters zone B is 

described as follows: 

  Beginning at Kalaau O Kalakani Point at  



4 

 19°34’37.81”N, 155°58’10.50”W; then northeasterly 

 along the shoreline to the north lifeguard tower  

 at 19°34’48.67”N, 155°57’58.88”W; then seawards 

 [north-westerly]northwesterly to Pyramid Rock at 

 19°34’50.21”N, 155°58’07.98”W; then seawards in a 

 southerly direction ending at Kalaau O Kalakani 

 Point at the point of beginning. 

 [(1) Restrictions.  Zone B is designated as a  

  swim zone. 

 (2) No person shall operate or moor any vessel 

  within this zone, including but not limited 

  to boats, motorboats, surfboards, 

  paddleboards, sailboards, kayaks, and 

  canoes.]  

 Kahaluu Bay ocean waters zone B is designated as 

a swimming and diving zone.  No person shall operate 

or moor any vessel within this zone, including, but 

not limited to, boats, motorboats, surfboards, 

paddleboards, sailboards, kayaks, and canoes." [Eff 

2/24/94; am 4/22/16; am                    ]  (Auth: 

HRS §§200-4, 200-22, 200-24) (Imp: HRS §§200-2, 200-3, 

200-4, 200-22, 200-24)  



Exhibit H-5
Kahaluu Bay Ocean Waters,
Ocean Recreation Management Area

Map date: August 1, 2022



5 

 2. Material, except source notes and other 

notes, to be repealed is bracketed and stricken.  New 

material is underscored. 

  

 3. The amendments to section 13-256-152, Hawaii 

Administrative Rules, shall take effect ten days after 

filing with the Office of the Lieutenant Governor. 

 

I certify that the foregoing is a copy of the 

rule, drafted in the Ramseyer format pursuant to the 

requirements of section 91-4.1, Hawaii Revised 

Statutes, which, if adopted by the Board of Land and 

Natural Resources, will be filed with the Office of 

the Lieutenant Governor. 

 

 

 

 

_         

SUZANNE D. CASE 

Chairperson 

Board of Land and Natural Resources 

 

 

 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

____________________________ 

Deputy Attorney General 

 

 

 



 
 
 
 
 
IV. Old Business  

B. Discussion and Action on the Small Business 
Statement After Public Hearing and 
Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 13 
Chapter 251 Subchapters 1, 2, 3, and 7, 
Commercial Activities on State Ocean 
Waters, Navigable Streams and Beaches, 
promulgated by DLNR 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 





Small Business Statement after Public Hearing - Page 2 

-

REVISED 



1 
 

    Approved: _______2-20-2020_______________________ 

 
Small Business Regulatory Review Board 

 
MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING 
January 16, 2020 
Conference Room 405, 235 South Beretania Street, Leiopapa A Kamehameha Building 
(State Office Tower), Honolulu, Hawaii 96813 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER: Chair Cundiff called the meeting to order at 10:02 a.m., with a 
quorum present.     

STAFF: DBEDT                    Office of the Attorney General 
    Dori Palcovich 
 Jet’aime Alcos 

      Jennifer Polk-Waihee  

  

II. APPROVAL OF NOVEMBER 21, 2019 MINUTES 
 
Mr. Lee made a motion to accept the November 21, 2019 minutes, as presented.   
Mr. Nakamoto seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed.    
 
III. OLD BUSINESS – After Public Hearing 

 
A. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Statement After Public Hearing 

and Proposed New HAR Title 15, Chapter 120, Community-Based Economic 
Development Loan and Grants Programs, and Repeal of HAR Chapter 116, 
Community-Based Development Loan Program and HAR Chapter 126, 
Community-Based Development Grants Program, promulgated by Department of 
Economic, Development and Tourism (DBEDT)  

 
Mr. Mark Ritchie, Branch Chief at DBEDT’s Business Development and Support Division, 
explained that the proposed new rule was initially two separate rules, Chapter 116 
Community-Based Development Loan Program and Chapter 126 Community-Based 
Development Grants Program; the new proposal combines the two rules.  
 
One area where there is significant small business impact, albeit positive impact, is where 
the new rule requires small businesses to receive only one turndown; whereas the prior rules 
required two turndowns before the business could approach DBEDT for a loan.  Overall, 
these two programs are good for small businesses to get off the ground. 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 Robert Cundiff, Chair 
 Garth Yamanaka, Vice Chair 
 Harris Nakamoto 
 Mary Albitz 
 James (Kimo) Lee 
 Carl Nagasako 
 

       
ABSENT MEMBERS: 
 William Lydgate, 2nd Vice 

Chair 
 Nancy Atmospera-Walch 
 Jonathan Shick 

 
 

 

AriolaJK
Highlight



2 
 

Mr. Nakamoto made a motion to move the proposed rules onto the Governor for adoption.  
Ms. Albitz seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed.   

 
IV. NEW BUSINESS – Before Public Hearing  

 
A. Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments to Part 5, Facilities Reserve 

Charge, Section III Applicability, promulgated by Department of Water, County of 
Kauai, as follows: 
 
1. e. The Facilities Reserve Charge for a Guest House; and 
2. f. The Facilities Reserve Charge for an Additional Rental Unit  
 

Messrs. Edward Doi and Michael Hinazumi, Engineers from the Department of Water, 
County of Kauai, explained that the County recently changed an ordinance allowing 
guesthouses to be converted into rental units.  Impact studies, in the past, addressed 
single family dwellings as size-limited rental units and were assessed an impact fee of 
$14,115.  Kauai County is looking to reduce this impact fee for the affordable housing 
market size-limits such as residential size-limits; this will be consistent with the charge-
down of $4,000. 
 
Regarding any small business impact, it will likely help stimulate the development of these 
types of rental units and lower future connection fees.  In 2015, a rate study was performed 
based on water usage and impact to the system.  In questioning the offsets, as discussed 
in the rules, Mr. Hinazumi stated they were created by percentages.  If the department is 
unable to do the facility, any developer has the option to use the facility and then will 
receive the offset for the FRC (facilities reserve charge). 
 
Vice Chair Yamanaka agreed that Kauai County is the “high-test” in the state, and because 
the level is being reduced, that is the reason it can be considered “low income housing.”  
Regarding outreach in the community, there was a sizeable amount of feedback that was 
received by the community, all of which was positive.  Regarding growth capacity, Mr. Doi 
explained that based on the County’s general projection of the area, it appears there is 
enough water to service the community in the next five to seven years.    

 
Ms. Albitz made a motion to move the proposed amendments forward to public hearing.   
Vice Chair Yamanaka seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed.   

 
B. Discussion and Action on Proposed Amendments (Repeal) of Title 13 Chapter 

251, Commercial Activities on State Ocean Waters, Navigable Streams, and 
Beaches, promulgated by Department of Land and Natural Resources (DLNR), 
as follows: 
1. Subchapter 1, Catamaran Captain, Canoe Captain, Canoe Second Captain, 

Surfboard Instructor, Sailboard Instructor and Commercial Motorboat 
Operator Permits 

2. Subchapter 2, Suspension or Revocation of Operator Permits 
3. Subchapter 3, Violation of Operator Permit Provisions 
4. Subchapter 7, Special Operating Restrictions 

 

AriolaJK
Highlight



3 
 

Discussion leader, Ms. Mary Albitz introduced Ms. Meghan Statts, Assistant Administrator 
and Legal Fellow Mr. Todd Tashima from DLNR’s Division of Boating and Outdoor 
Recreation (DOBOR), who explained that this proposal pertains only to Waikiki ocean 
waters - from Kewalo Basin to Diamond Head.  The rule creates an operator card for 
anyone who wants to teach surf instructions or canoe paddling in Waikiki.  Numerous surf 
schools were contacted and were asked by DOBOR to utilize the operator card for a while.   
 
Overall, because businesses could not come to a consensus on changes to be made, 
DOBOR opted to repeal the operator permit requirements in the rules.  The businesses that 
will directly benefit from the repeal are those operating commercially on Waikiki Beach and 
in Waikiki Ocean Waters.  Further, removal of the operator permit requirements will allow 
businesses to independently review employee qualifications and remove the State from the 
qualification process.  While “commercial” use permit requirements would remain, the State 
will not be involved in qualifying and certifying employees’ ability to operate outrigger 
canoes and surfboards.   
 
In response to an inquiry by Chair Cundiff as to how a small businessperson is qualified, 
Ms. Statts replied that First Aid and CPR training is required as well as practicing a certain 
number of years.  These qualifications allow an instructor to provide better, safer, and 
proper service to clients.  It is expected that most of the affected small businesses will likely 
support the rule change because it will provide businesses with more flexibility in hiring; 
DOBOR is planning to work closely with the Waikiki businesses.     
 
Mr. Tashima explained that there is no need to go to public hearing because DOBOR is 
only repealing the subchapters, and Chapter 91-3, HRS provides agencies the authority to 
issue only public notice when it is a repeal.  In order to repeal the existing rule, however, 
notice must be advertised in the paper.  Therefore, DOBOR is requesting approval to 
publish notice but not to go to public hearing.  Although it is believed that positive feedback 
is expected, if public notice results in comments that need to be responded to or acted 
upon, DOBOR will come back before this Board.   

 
Vice Chair Yamanaka made a motion to issue public notice for repeal of the subject 
subchapters.  Ms. Albitz seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed.   

 
V. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS  

 
A. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in Accordance 

with the Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, HRS, on the following: 
 
a. Board to be Interviewed on ThinkTech Hawaii’s “Business in Hawaii” scheduled 

on January 23, 2020 
 

Chair Cundiff introduced Ms. Dailyn Yanagida, Consultant at ThinkTech Hawaii, and 
thanked her for attending today’s meeting.  He noted that this Board was on ThinkTech 
Hawaii at least twice before, but since then the Board has had several changes to report 
such as revamping the website and creating “Regulation for Review.”   
 



 

DEPARTMENT OF LAND AND NATURAL RESOURCES 

 

Repeal of Subchapters 1, 2, 3, and 7 of 

Chapter 13-251 

Hawaii Administrative Rules 

 

October 27, 2022 

 

1. Subchapter 1 of Chapter 13-251, Hawaii 

Administrative Rules, entitled "Catamaran Captain, 

Canoe Captain, Canoe Second Captain, Surfboard 

Instructor, Sailboard Instructor and Commercial 

Motorboat Operator Permits", is repealed. 

 

2. Subchapter 2 of Chapter 13-251, Hawaii 

Administrative Rules, entitled "Suspension or 

Revocation of Operator Permits", is repealed. 

 

3. Subchapter 3 of Chapter 13-251, Hawaii 

Administrative Rules, entitled "Violation of Operator 

Permit Provisions", is repealed. 

 

4. Subchapter 7 of Chapter 13-251, Hawaii 

Administrative Rules, entitled "Special Operating 

Restrictions", is repealed. 

 

5. The repeal of subchapters 1, 2, 3 and 7 of 

Chapter 13-251, Hawaii Administrative Rules, shall 

take effect ten days after filing with the Office of 

the Lieutenant Governor. 

  

AriolaJK
Received



 

I certify that the foregoing are copies of the 

rules, drafted in the Ramseyer format pursuant to the 

requirements of section 91-4.1, Hawaii Revised 

Statutes, which were adopted on October 27, 2022 by 

the Board of Land and Natural Resources. 

 

 

 

_____________________    

SUZANNE D. CASE 

Chairperson 

Board of Land and Natural Resources 

 

 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

____________________________ 

Deputy Attorney General 



 
V. Administrative Matters 

A. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy 
Activities and Programs in accordance with 
the Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, 
HRS 
 

 

 

 

 


	A. Discussion and Action on the Proposed New HAR Title 13 Chapters 230 and 256, General Provisions; Ocean Recreation Management Rules and Areas, promulgated by DLNR
	A. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Statement After Public Hearing and Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 13 Chapter 256-152, Kahaluu Bay Ocean Waters, promulgated by DLNR
	B. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Statement After Public Hearing and Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 13 Chapter 251 Subchapters 1, 2, 3, and 7, Commercial Activities on State Ocean Waters, Navigable Streams and Beaches, promulgated by DLNR
	A. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in accordance with the Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, HRS
	DLNR DOBOR 13-230 & 13-256 Manta Ray Rules SBIS PPH.pdf
	If the proposed rule affects small business and are not exempt as noted above, please provide a reasonable determination of the following:
	* * *

	DLNR DOBOR 13-230 & 13-256 Manta Ray RAMSEYER.pdf
	Blank Page

	ADP30BF.tmp
	SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD
	I. Call to Order
	II. Approval of October 20, 2022 Meeting Minutes
	III. New Business – Before Public Hearing
	Discussion and Action on Proposed New Hawaii Administrative Rules 
	 (HAR) Title 13 Chapters 230 and 256, General Provisions; Ocean 
	 Recreation Management Rules and Areas, promulgated by Department of 
	 Land and Natural Resources (DLNR) – Discussion Leader – Taryn Rodighiero

	IV. Old Business – After Public Hearing
	Discussion and Action on the Small Business Statement After Public 
	Hearing and the Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 13 
	Chapter 256-152, Kahaluu Bay Ocean Waters, promulgated by 
	DLNR – Discussion Leader – Taryn Rodighiero
	B. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Statement After Public 
	 Hearing and the Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 13 
	 Chapter 251 Subchapters 1, 2, 3, and 7, Commercial Activities on 
	 State Ocean Waters, Navigable Streams and Beaches, promulgated by 
	 DLNR – Discussion Leader – Taryn Rodighiero

	V. Administrative Matters
	A. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in accordance with the Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, Hawaii Administrative Rules

	VI. Next Meeting:  Thursday, December 8, 2022 at 10:00 a.m., held via Zoom and In-Person at 250 S. Hotel Street, Conference Room 436, Honolulu, HI  96813
	VII. Adjournment


	Email: todd.h.tashima@hawaii.gov
	Phone: 808-587-0142
	pursuant to HRS 927: Yes
	If Yes provide details: Available at: https://dlnr.hawaii.gov/dobor/draft-rules
	II Will the proposed rules affect small business: Yes_2
	statute or ordinance: No_3
	IV Is the proposed rule being adopted pursuant to emergency rulemaking HRS 201M2a: Off
	Text 1: All businesses operating manta ray viewing tours in proposed designated areas in West Hawaii will be required to comply.  Businesses will need both a commercial use permit and a manta ray viewing permit.  Businesses may be adversely affected because permits will be limited to a total of 48 (24 for each of 2 sites).
	Text 2: A new $300 manta ray viewing permit fee will be established and will be in addition to any other fees.  Other possible costs to operators include installation of propeller guards.  Potential revenue loss due to limiting passenger counts and guide ratios.
	Text 2a: No fee currently in existence.
	Text 2b: Proposed fee of $300 per month.
	Text 3: Costs to DOBOR: Installation and maintenance of moorings at the manta ray viewing sites.Benefits to DOBOR: At least $172,800 in additional annual revenue to DOBOR from manta ray viewing permit fee collections (48 permits x $300 x 12 months), to be used for installation and maintenance of moorings at manta ray viewing sites, if all permits are issued.
	Text 2c: Maintenance of moorings and infrastructure at manta ray viewing sites.
	Text 2d: Fee amount is based on estimated maintenance costs of 13 moorings at 2 sites, using costs for existing offshore moorings as a basis.
	Text 4: DOBOR proposed a fixed fee rather than a percentage or other scalable fee; and maximized the number of permits by implementing a shift structure to double the amount of potential permits.
	Text 5: DOBOR considered issuing a permit to all operators currently engaged in manta ray viewing tours and letting the permit count decrease by attrition, but this would not solve the overcrowding and safety issues at the sites because companies can be transferred with associated permits and would take a significant period of time to reduce the permit counts for the sites.
	Text 6: The initial proposal planned to base permit eligibility on when a business began operating manta ray viewing tours, but the Deputy AG advised that DOBOR does not have statutory authority for this.  Another proposal was to auction permits, but DOBOR does not have statutory authority for this method either.
	Text 7: DOBOR consulted business owners in the informal rule drafting process and let all interested persons sign up for updates regarding the rules.  Multiple scoping meetings were held over a period of 8 years where all interested persons could provide input and recommendations.  Multiple informal rule drafts were released periodically for feedback.
	Text 7a: Many businesses recommended increasing permit limits - this was not adopted because activity needs to be reduced to protect people and the natural resources at the sites.
	Text 8: Yes, to increase safety for people and marine life at the sites.
	Text 8b: New restrictions will be added to HAR Chapter 13-256, Subchapter 11, regarding the West Hawaii Ocean Recreation Management Area.  These restrictions will be more strict and specific than existing rules.
	Text 8a: Limit activity at the manta ray viewing sites to help reduce or prevent injuries and damage to vessels at the sites.
	Text 8c: No regulations related to manta ray viewing currently in existence.
	Text 8d: Without these rules, there would be no $300 per month additional permit fee.  There are also no safety regulations currently in place.
	Text 8e: Increased operational restrictions on businesses, limitation on the number of businesses that can operate, and $300 per month fee, compared to no regulations without the proposed rules.
	Department or Agency: DLNR Division of Boating & Ocean Recreation
	Administrative Rule Title and Chapter: Chapters 13-230 & 13-256
	Chapter Name: General Provisions; Ocean Recreation Management Rules and Areas
	Contact PersonTitle: Todd Tashima, General Professional
	Date: 11/1/2022
	New: On
	Repeal: Off
	Amendment: On
	Compilation: Off


